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COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
 

Plaintiffs Muslim Advocates and the Center for Constitutional Rights (“CCR”) 

(collectively, “Plaintiffs”) bring this action under the Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”), 5 

U.S.C. § 552 et seq. for declaratory, injunctive, and other appropriate relief to compel the 

disclosure and release of documents from Defendants U.S. Department of State, U.S. 

Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”), and DHS component agencies, U.S. Customs and 

Border Protection (“CBP”) and U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (“USCIS”) 

(collectively, “Defendants”).   

NATURE OF THIS ACTION 

1. Plaintiffs Muslim Advocates and the Center for Constitutional Rights are not-for-

profit legal advocacy and educational organizations. On January 23, 2018, Plaintiffs submitted a 

FOIA Request (the “Request”) for materials related to the waiver provisions set forth in 

President Donald Trump’s September 24, 2017 Proclamation 9645, titled “Presidential 

Proclamation Enhancing Vetting Capabilities and Processes for Detecting Attempted Entry Into 

the United States by Terrorists or Other Public-Safety Threats” (hereinafter “the Proclamation”). 

See Ex. A., Muslim Advocates and CCR FOIA Request (Jan. 23, 2018). Closely following the 

two earlier enjoined executive orders it replaced, the Proclamation forbids nationals of eight 

countries from entering the United States: Chad1, Iran, Libya, North Korea, Syria, Venezuela2, 

and Yemen. As with the earlier two iterations, the vast majority of the individuals and countries 

impacted by the Proclamation are Muslim. Under the Proclamation’s terms, individuals who are 

                                                
1 On April 10, 2018, the U.S. Department of State issued revisions to the Proclamation, removing 
the visa restrictions imposed on Chadian nationals. Chad was not among the countries banned in 
the First or Second Executive Orders.  
2 Unlike the other listed nations, for Venezuela, the Proclamation only bars the entry on non-
immigrant business and/or tourist visas of certain Venezuelan government officials who are 
“involved in screening and vetting procedures” and their immediate family members.  
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otherwise banned can only enter the United States by being granted a waiver on a case-by-case 

basis. Although the Proclamation covers more than 135 million foreign nationals and their U.S. 

citizen family members, information about the standards governing this waiver process have not 

been made available to the public in any meaningful way. 

2. The documents and information Plaintiffs seek are of utmost concern to the 

public, and Plaintiffs’ Request sets out the compelling, urgent need for clarity regarding the 

waiver process. Although the Proclamation lists some examples of situations in which a waiver 

grant would be appropriate, it provides neither detailed guidance nor information for impacted 

individuals about requesting consideration or demonstrating their eligibility for a waiver.  

3. In its public filings, the government has described the waiver process as “robust,”3 

“comprehensive”4 and “individualized.”5 It has also characterized the process as entirely within 

the consular officer’s discretion.6 However, publicly available evidence7, as well as information 

Plaintiff organizations have obtained from directly affected individuals, suggest that the process 

is cursory, nonexistent, not left to consular discretion, or so limiting that it can be considered 

nonexistent. In any event, it is not public. A recently published report further documents the 

                                                
3 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiff’s Renewed Application for Temporary Restraining Order & 
Preliminary Injunction at 2, Doe v. Trump, No. 17-CV-112-WMC (W.D. Wis. Mar. 10, 2017), 
2017 WL 975996 at *12, available at 
http://assets.documentcloud.org/documents/3519757/Show-Temp.pdf. 
4 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Preliminary Injunction and/or Temporary 
Restraining Order at 1, 10, 25, Int’l Refugee Assistance Project v. Trump, 241 F. Supp. 3d 539 
(2017) (No. 8:17-cv-00361-TDC), 2017 WL 1047713 at *4, *13, *28. 
5 Application for Stay Pending Appeal to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit at 25 
n.8, Trump v. Hawaii, 137 S. Ct. 2080 (2017) (No. 16-1540). 
6 Transcript of Oral Argument at 76, Trump v. Hawaii, No. 17-965 (U.S. argued Apr. 25, 2018), 
http://www.supremecourt.gov/oral_arguments/argument_transcripts/2017/17-965_3314.pdf 
7 See, e.g., Jeremy Stahl, “The Waivers Process Is Fraud”, SLATE (Jun. 15, 2018), 
http://slate.com/news-and-politics/2018/06/trump-travel-ban-waiver-process-is-a-sham-two-
consular-officers-say.html; Jeremy Stahl, “Correct the Record, Noel Francisco”, SLATE (Jun. 15, 
2018), https://slate.com/news-and-politics/2018/06/trump-v-hawaii-supreme-court-travel-ban-
case-solicitor-general-noel-francisco-needs-to-correct-the-record.html. 
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opacity of the process, the conflicting reports, the absence of guidelines, and the resulting 

challenges faced by those seeking to avail themselves of the waiver process.8  

4. Two Supreme Court justices have noted that the transparency and effectiveness of 

the waiver scheme would be crucial in assessing the Proclamation’s lawfulness. Trump v. 

Hawaii, 585 U.S. ____, ____ (2018) (Breyer, J. dissenting). Furthermore, the lack of 

transparency and conflicting reports have led public officials to seek information about how 

waivers are assessed, granted or denied, and whether the waiver process is merely “window 

dressing.”9  

5. Since the Proclamation, Plaintiffs have received a multitude of requests for advice 

on the waiver process from banned individuals and their families. Plaintiffs have also received 

numerous reports from affected individuals that describe inconsistent visa processing by U.S. 

consulates located in Djibouti, Armenia, and Turkey. 

6. Given the dearth of official guidance on the waiver process and the conflicting 

public reports, the documents and information that Defendants are illegally withholding will 

inform Plaintiffs’ ability to thoroughly counsel and aid banned individuals. The information is 

also key to understanding the scope of the Proclamation’s waiver provision and whether it is 

being implemented in a discriminatory, unconstitutional, or otherwise unlawful manner.   

7. As of this filing, Defendants have failed to comply with their obligations under 

FOIA: Defendants have not issued a final determination in response to Plaintiffs’ Request, and 

                                                
8 Center for Constitutional Rights and the Rule of Law Clinic at Yale Law School, Window 
Dressing the Muslim Ban: Reports of Waivers and Mass Denials from Yemeni-American 
Families Stuck in Limbo (2018).  
9 Transcript of Oral Argument, supra note 6 at 72, 76-77; Letter from Mary K. Waters, Assistant 
Sec’y for Legislative Affairs, Dep’t of State to Sen. Chris Van Hollen (Feb. 22, 2018), 
http://fingfx.thomsonreuters.com/gfx/reuterscom/1/60/60/letter.pdf. 
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have yet to produce any documents. Defendants had previously failed to respond to Plaintiff 

Muslim Advocates’ June 27, 2017 FOIA request seeking similar information about the waivers 

provision in Executive Order 13,780 (the “Second Executive Order”); that request is the subject 

of ongoing litigation in this court. See Muslim Advocates v. Dep’t of State, 1:17-CV-02080-TSC 

(D.D.C. Feb. 20, 2018). 

8. Plaintiffs bring this action to compel Defendants to immediately process and 

release to Plaintiffs all responsive records that they have unlawfully withheld.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has original jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 

and 1346. This Court also has subject matter jurisdiction over this action and personal 

jurisdiction over all parties pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B).  

10. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) and 28 

U.S.C.�§ 1391(e), because a substantial portion of the events giving rise to this action occurred 

in this District, and because Defendants maintain records and information subject to the Request 

in this District.  

PARTIES 

11. Plaintiff Muslim Advocates is a non-profit corporation with offices in 

Washington, D.C. and California that works to ensure civil rights for Americans of all faiths 

through national legal advocacy, litigation, policy engagement, and civic education. Muslim 

Advocates also regularly disseminates information to the public through its website, social media 

platforms, and email distribution lists. Muslim Advocates submitted the Request that is the 

subject of this action and is a “person” within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 551(2).  
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12. Plaintiff CCR is a non-profit, legal and public education organization located in 

New York City that engages in litigation, public advocacy, and the production of publications in 

the fields of civil rights, and domestic and international human rights. CCR also regularly 

disseminates information through CCR’s website as well as social media platforms. CCR 

submitted the Request that is the subject of this action and is a “person” within the meaning of 5 

U.S.C. § 551(2). 

13. Defendant Department of State is an “agency” within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 

552(f)(1). Department of State is the executive department responsible for international relations 

and is an agency of the United States. Department of State has possession of and control over the 

documents and information requested by Plaintiffs under FOIA.  

14. Defendant DHS is an “agency” within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1). DHS 

is the executive department responsible for enforcing federal immigration laws and is an agency 

of the United States. DHS has possession of and control over the documents and information 

requested by Plaintiffs under FOIA.  

15. Defendant CBP is a component agency of DHS and an “agency” within the 

meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1). CBP is the component agency of DHS that manages the United 

States’ borders. CBP has possession of and control over the documents and information 

requested by Plaintiffs under FOIA.  

16. Defendant USCIS is a component agency of DHS and an “agency” within the 

meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1). USCIS is the component agency of DHS that oversees 

immigration to the United States. USCIS has possession of and control over the documents and 

information requested by Plaintiffs under FOIA. 

STATUTORY BACKGROUND 
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17. The Freedom of Information Act provides that any member of the public may 

request records from a United States agency. Upon receipt of a FOIA request, an agency must 

determine within 20 business days—or, in “unusual circumstances,” by 30 business days—

whether it will comply with a request and notify the requestor of its determination and reasoning 

in writing. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(i)-(B)(i). This determination must also timely indicate the 

scope of the documents the office intends to produce and the exemptions, if any, that it will 

apply to withhold documents. 

18. In response to a FOIA request, an agency must disclose in a timely manner all 

records that do not fall within nine narrowly construed statutory exemptions after engaging in a 

reasonable search for responsive records, including of any field offices that may possess relevant 

materials. 5 U.S.C. § 552 (a)(3)(A), (C), (b)(1)-(9).  

19. Although a requester under FOIA must typically appeal agency action 

administratively before commencing litigation, if the agency has failed to abide by its obligations 

and issue a determination within the statutory timeframe, the administrative appeals process is 

considered exhausted. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(C)(i). Upon complaint, a district court can enjoin an 

agency from withholding records and order production of records improperly withheld. 5 U.S.C. 

§ 552(a)(4)(B).  

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

20. On January 27, 2017, President Trump issued Executive Order 13,769, titled 

“Protecting the Nation from Foreign Terrorist Entry into the United States” (the “First Executive 

Order”). The First Executive Order banned the entry of individuals from seven predominantly 

Muslim countries—Iran, Iraq, Libya, Somalia, Sudan, Syria, and Yemen—into the United States 

for ninety days. It also suspended the entire United States Refugee Admissions Program for 120 
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days, indefinitely barred the entry of Syrian refugees, and included an exception for non-Muslim 

refugees. Exec. Order No. 13,769 § 5(a)-(c), 82 Fed. Reg. 8977 (Jan. 27, 2017).  

21. Following a series of successful legal challenges enjoining the First Executive 

Order, President Trump issued a new executive order on March 6, 2017, Executive Order No. 

13,780, which took effect on March 16, 2017 (“Second Executive Order”). This Second 

Executive Order maintained the ban on six Muslim majority countries—Iran, Libya, Somalia, 

Sudan, Syria, and Yemen—for 90 days, removing Iraq from the list of targeted countries but 

subjecting Iraqis to specific enhanced-vetting requirements. Exec. Order No. 13,780 § 2(c), 82 

Fed. Reg. 13,209 (Mar. 6, 2017). The Second Executive Order also provided for the grant of 

case-by-case waivers for individuals whose entry was otherwise suspended. Id.  

22. After the Fourth and Ninth Circuits nationally enjoined the Second Executive 

Order, the Secretary of Homeland Security undertook a “worldwide review” to assess what 

“additional information would be needed from each foreign country to assess adequately whether 

their nationals seeking to enter the United States pose a security or safety threat.” See 

Proclamation No. 9645 § 1(c), 82 Fed. Reg. 45161 (Sept. 24, 2017). This “worldwide review” 

ostensibly resulted in Presidential Proclamation 9645 on September 24, 2017, which is the 

subject of this Request. The Proclamation indefinitely bars nationals of eight countries from 

entry into the U.S.: Chad, Iran, Libya, North Korea, Syria, Venezuela, and Yemen. See id. § 1(g).  

There is near-perfect overlap between the Muslim-majority countries whose nationals are banned 

before and after the “worldwide review.”  

23. On June 26, 2018, the Supreme Court upheld the legality of the Proclamation, 

allowing the ban on nationals of five predominantly Muslim countries to remain in effect 

indefinitely.  
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24. The Proclamation, like the Second Executive Order, allows for case-by-case 

waivers from the ban on entry to the United States, which can be granted by a consular officer, 

the Commissioner, CBP, or the Commissioner’s designee in certain circumstances. Id. § 3(c). 

These circumstances include whether the denial of entry “would cause undue hardship,” when 

“entry would not pose a threat to national security,” and when entry “would be in the national 

interest.” See id. The Proclamation further requires the Secretary of State and the Secretary of 

Homeland Security to coordinate to adopt guidance establishing when waivers may be 

appropriate for otherwise barred foreign nationals. See id. No such guidance has been publicly 

promulgated to date, and the agencies have not provided any meaningful information about the 

waiver application procedure, how waiver eligibility determinations are made, and whether any 

recourse exists for persons denied a waiver. However, publicly available statements by consular 

officers have confirmed that some guidance has been promulgated, at least in the form of 

guidance cables, sample questions and answers, and other instructions.10 Such documents, 

essential to understanding the Proclamation “as it is written” and “as it is applied”, are reportedly 

not classified.  Trump v. Hawaii, 585 U.S. ____, ____ (2018) (Breyer, J. dissenting) (internal 

quotes omitted). 

25. Immediately after the Proclamation went into effect, Plaintiffs began receiving 

reports from banned individuals of pro forma, mass denials of both visas and waivers by 

consular offices in Armenia, Turkey, Djibouti, and elsewhere. Many of the individuals who were 

notified that they had been denied waivers had never even been provided an opportunity to seek 

a waiver. Automatically denied individuals include those who had previously been informed that 

their visas had been approved. Further, government statistics indicate that the number of waivers 

                                                
10 See Stahl, supra note 7. 
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granted is “a miniscule percentage” of those eligible for visas—during the Proclamation’s first 

month, the State Department reported that of the 6,555 applicants it received, it approved only 

two for waivers. Hawaii, 585 U.S. at _____ (2018) (Breyer, J. dissenting) (internal quotes 

omitted). 

26. This lack of clarity has augmented the chaos and hardship experienced by the 

affected individuals—many of whom are direct relatives of U.S. citizens or Lawful Permanent 

Residents.   

27. In light of the Supreme Court’s ruling upholding the Proclamation’s indefinite 

ban, a waiver grant is the exclusive means by which banned nationals of the named countries 

may enter the United States, the records Plaintiffs request would provide information vitally 

important to the public and to Plaintiffs’ ability to advise impacted individuals and families. 

Moreover, the records requested are critical to illuminating whether the government is applying 

the waiver system in a non-discriminatory fashion. Hawaii, 585 U.S. at ____ (2018) (Breyer, J. 

dissenting). 

PLAINTIFFS’ FOIA REQUEST 

28. Plaintiffs submitted the Request to Defendants on January 23, 2018.  

29. The Request seeks records created on or after September 24, 2017, the date of the 

Proclamation, that concern guidance, interpretation, implementation, or enforcement of the 

Proclamation’s waiver provision by DHS, CBP, the Department of State, or any other component 

agency of the federal government. See Ex. A, Muslim Advocates and CCR FOIA Request.  

30. Broadly, the Request seeks policies, guidance, and procedures responsive to the 

relevant timeframe that illuminate how the individual waiver requests are accepted and assessed, 

including how the factors laid out in the Proclamation of “undue hardship”, “threat to national 
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security”, and entry “in the national interest” are evaluated. The Request also seeks quantitative 

data points such as the numbers of waiver requests received, granted, and denied under the 

Proclamation by the Department of State, CBP, DHS, or any DHS component agency. 

31. Plaintiffs sought expedited processing pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E) due to 

the magnitude of public interest and the “compelling need” for greater transparency regarding 

government policies concerning implementation of the Proclamation.  

32. Plaintiffs also sought a fee waiver pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(ii)(II), (iii) 

on the basis that “disclosure of the request materials is in the public interest because it is likely to 

contribute significantly to the public understanding of the activities or operations of the 

government and is not primarily in the commercial interest” of Plaintiffs, and in light of their 

roles as members of the news media.   

AGENCY RESPONSE AND EXHAUSTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES 

Defendant DHS’s Response 

33. On February 2, 2018, DHS sent a letter via email acknowledging receipt of the 

Request in their office on January 23, 2018 and granting expedited processing and fee waiver. 

See Ex. B, Letter from LaEbony Livingston, FOIA Program Specialist to Sirine Shebaya, Senior 

Staff Attorney (Feb. 2, 2018). Under 6 C.F.R. Part 5 § 5.5c, DHS invoked a 10-day extension 

beyond the typical 20-day statutory limit to respond to Plaintiffs’ Request. See id. 

34. Therefore, DHS was required to respond to Plaintiffs’ Request on or before 

March 6, 2018. 

35. As of this filing, Plaintiffs have not received the required determination from 

DHS; nor have they received any responsive records or any other substantive reply to their 
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Request. In fact, Plaintiffs have received no further correspondence from DHS since the 

February 2, 2018 letter.  

Defendant USCIS’s Response 

36. On February 6, 2018, USCIS sent a letter via email acknowledging receipt of the 

Request and granting a fee waiver, denying expedited processing, and limiting the scope of 

responsive documents to those in USCIS’ possession as of February 6, 2018. See Ex. C, Letter 

from Jill A. Eggleston, Director of FOIA Operations to Sirine Shebaya, Senior Staff Attorney 

(Feb. 6, 2018). Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(B), USCIS invoked a 10-day extension beyond 

the typical 20-day statutory limit to respond to Plaintiffs’ Request. See id.  

37. USCIS was therefore required to respond to Plaintiffs’ Request on or before 

March 20, 2018. 

38. As of this filing, Plaintiffs have not received the required determination from 

USCIS; nor have they received any responsive records or any other substantive reply to their 

Request. Plaintiffs have received no communication from USCIS since their initial February 6, 

2018 letter.  

Defendant CBP’s Response 

39. On February 7, 2018, CBP sent an email acknowledging receipt of the Request in 

their office on January 31, 2018 and denying both a fee waiver and expedited processing. See Ex. 

D, Letter from U.S. Customs and Border Protection to Sirine Shebaya, Senior Staff Attorney 

(Feb. 7, 2018). Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(B), CBP referenced a 10-day extension beyond 

the typical 20-day statutory limit to respond to Plaintiffs’ Request but did not invoke it. See id.  

40. CBP’s Letter stated, “Currently the average time to process a FOIA request 

related to ‘travel/border incidents’ is a minimum of 3-6 months.” See id. However, the letter did 
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not advise whether this amount of time would be required to respond to the Request or explain 

why Plaintiffs’ request for records relating to the Proclamation’s waiver process would be 

subject to the processing period for requests related to “travel/border incidents.”  

41. Without the 10-day extension, CBP’s response to Plaintiffs was due on or before 

February 28, 2018. At the latest, even with the 10-day extension which it did not invoke, CBP’s 

response was due on or before March 14, 2018.  

42. As of this filing, Plaintiffs have not received the required determination from 

CBP; nor have they received any responsive records or any other substantive reply to their 

Request. Plaintiffs have received no communication from CBP since their February 7, 2018 

letter.  

43. Moreover, while CBP’s letter provided a tracking number to monitor the Request 

online as it was being processed by CBP, as of this filing, a search for the Request on the online 

FOIA portal returns no results. See Ex. E.  

Defendant Department of State’s Response 

44. As of this filing, Plaintiffs have received no communication from the Department 

of State regarding receipt of the Request nor any communication regarding determination or 

processing nor any records responsive to Plaintiffs’ Request. 

Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies 

45. Despite their clear obligations under FOIA, Defendants have not provided any 

substantive determination in response to the Request nor released any records responsive to the 

Request within the statutory timeframe. 
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46. Because Defendants have not complied with the statutory time limits set forth in 

the FOIA statute, Plaintiffs’ administrative remedies are considered exhausted under 5 U.S.C. § 

552(a)(6)(C)(i).  

CAUSE OF ACTION 
Violation of the Freedom of Information Act 

5 U.S.C. § 552(a) 
 

47. Defendants have violated 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)-(B) and applicable regulations 

promulgated thereunder by failing to determine whether to comply with Plaintiffs’ Request and 

communicate such determination to Plaintiffs within 30 days.  

48. Defendants’ failure to timely release agency records in response to Plaintiffs’ 

request has violated 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3)(A).  

49. Defendants have violated 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3)(C)-(D) by failing to make 

reasonable efforts to search for records responsive to Plaintiffs’ Request.  

50. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) authorizes the grant of injunctive relief to Plaintiffs 

because Defendants continue to flout FOIA and improperly withhold agency records. Because 

Defendants’ refusal to respond to Plaintiffs’ requests prevents Plaintiffs from properly advising 

impacted individuals and educating the public about the ramifications of the Proclamation’s 

waivers process, Plaintiffs will continue to suffer irreparable injury from Defendants’ 

withholding of government documents subject to Plaintiffs’ Request in defiance of FOIA 

mandates.  

51. 28 U.S.C. § 2201 authorizes declaratory relief because an actual and justiciable 

controversy exists regarding Defendants’ improper withholding of agency records in violation of 

FOIA.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs Muslim Advocates and the Center for Constitutional Rights 

respectfully pray that the Court: 

A. Enter judgment that Defendants’ failure to determine within the statutorily 

appointed 30 days whether to comply with the Request and timely notify Plaintiffs of such 

determination and its reasoning violates FOIA; 

B. Enter judgment that Defendants’ unlawful withholding of the records requested 

violates FOIA; 

C. Enter an order requiring Defendants to immediately release any and all responsive 

and not otherwise exempt records to Plaintiffs; 

D. Award Plaintiffs their reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 

�552(a)(4)(E); and � 

E. Award such other further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

DATED: June 28, 2018 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

/s/Sirine Shebaya  
 Johnathan Smith (D.C. Bar No. 1029373) 
Sirine Shebaya (D.C. Bar No. 1019748)  
Nimra H. Azmi*° 
MUSLIM ADVOCATES 
P.O. Box 66408 
Washington, D.C. 20035 
(202) 897-2622 
sirine@muslimadvocates.org  
nimra@muslimadvocates.org   
 
* application for pro hac vice admission forthcoming 
°admitted in New York only; supervised by members 
of the DC bar 

 
Baher Azmy* 
Diala Shamas* 
CENTER FOR CONSTITUTIONAL 
RIGHTS 
666 Broadway, 7th Floor 
New York, NY 10012 
(212) 614-6426 
dshamas@ccrjustice.org 
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U.S. Department of Homeland Security
Washington, DC 20528

Homeland      
Security

February 2, 2018

SENT VIA E-MAIL TO:  Sirine@muslimadvocates.org

Sirine Shebaya
Senior Staff Attorney
Muslim Advocates
P.O. Box 66408
Washington, DC 20035

Re:  2018-HQFO-00557

Dear Sirine Shebaya:

This letter acknowledges receipt of your January 23, 2018, Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) 
request to the Department of Homeland Security (DHS), for documents, communications, and all 
other materials related to the implementation of the waiver provisions of President Donald 
Trump's September 24, 2017 Proclamation 9645, titled "Presidential Proclamation Enhancing 
Vetting Capabilities and Processes for Detecting Attempted Entry Into the United States by 
Terrorists or Other Public-Safety Threats.  This office received your request on January 30, 
2018.  

As it relates to your request for expedited processing and fee waiver, your request is granted. 

Due to the increasing number of FOIA requests received by this office, we may encounter some 
delay in processing your request.  Consistent with 6 C.F.R. Part 5 § 5.5(a) of the DHS FOIA 
regulations, the Department processes FOIA requests according to their order of receipt.  
Although DHS’ goal is to respond within 20 business days of receipt of your request, FOIA does 
permit a 10-day extension of this time period in certain circumstances pursuant to 6 C.F.R. Part 5 
§ 5.5(c).    As your request seeks documents that will require a thorough and wide-ranging 
search, DHS will invoke a 10-day extension for your request pursuant to 6 C.F.R. Part 5 § 5.5(c).   
If you would like to narrow the scope of your request, please contact our office.  We will make 
every effort to comply with your request in a timely manner.

We have queried the appropriate component(s) of DHS for responsive records.  If any responsive 
records are located, they will be reviewed for determination of releasability.  Please be assured that 
one of the analysts in our office will respond to your request as expeditiously as possible.  We 
appreciate your patience as we proceed with your request.

Your request has been assigned reference number 2018-HQFO-00557.  Please refer to this 
identifier in any future correspondence.  The status of your FOIA request is now available online 
and can be accessed at: https://www.dhs.gov/foia-status, by using this FOIA request number.  
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Status information is updated daily.  Alternatively, you can download the DHS eFOIA Mobile 
App, the free app is available for all Apple and Android devices. With the DHS eFOIA Mobile 
App, you can submit FOIA requests or check the status of requests, access all of the content on 
the FOIA website, and receive updates anyplace, anytime.

If you have any questions, or would like to discuss this matter, please feel free to contact this 
office at 1-866-431-0486 or 202-343-1743. 

Sincerely,

LaEbony Livingston
FOIA Program Specialist
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Sirine Shebaya  
Muslim Advocates  
PO Box 66408  
Washington, DC  20035  
 
 
 
Dear Sirine Shebaya: 
 
 
We received your request for information relating to records about presidential proclamation 9645, from 
September 24, 2017 clarifying EO 13780 on February 6, 2018.  Specifically you requested the following: 
 
1) Records created on or after September 24,2017, that concern guidance, interpretation, implementation, 
or enforcement of the Proclamation's waiver provision by DHS, Customs & Border Patrol ("CBP"), the 
Department of State, or any component agency of the federal government, including, but not limited to: 

a) Practices, policies, guidance, and procedures implemented on or after September 24, 2017, 
relating to criteria for assessing individual waiver requests; 
b) Policies, practices, guidance, and procedures implemented on or after September 24, 2017, 
regarding how officers should determine that an individual's waiver request be granted; 
c) Internal guidance or correspondence instructing consular or other officers on how to 
assess whether denial of an individual's entry "would cause undue hardship"; or when “his or her 
entry would not pose a threat to national security"; or when his or her entry "would be in the 
national interest"; 
d) The processes for accepting and adjudicating waiver requests; 
e) The person or office to whom waiver requests should be addressed; 
f) The number of waiver requests the Department of State, CBP, DHS, or any other component 
agency of DHS has received under the Proclamation; 
g) The number of waiver requests granted by the Department of State, CBP, DHS, or any other 
component agency of DHS under the Proclamation and the reasoning for the grants; 
h) The number of waiver requests denied by the Department of State, CBP, DHS, or any other 
component agency of DHS, under the Proclamation and the reasoning for the 
denials; 
i) Any guidance provided to CBP, DHS, or Department of State field personnel regarding the 
Proclamation's waiver provision's; 
j) Any memoranda setting guidance for the Department of State, CBP, DHS, or any other 
component agency of the DHS on enforcement of the Proclamation's waiver provisions in light of 
the Supreme Court's December 4, 2017 stay of the lower court injunctions; and 
k) Any memoranda providing guidance for the Department of State, CBP, DHS, or any other 
component agency of the DHS on enforcement of the Proclamation's waiver provisions in light of 
federal court decisions granting preliminary injunctions against its implementation. 
j) Any guidance or communications regarding the prioritization of the issuance of denial letters 
among applicants from the countries named in the Presidential Proclamation, or in the Second 
Executive Order. 

 

National Records Center 
P.O. Box 648010 
Lee's Summit, MO  64064-8010 
 

February 6, 2018 COW2018000160 
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2) Records concerning guidance, interpretation, enforcement, or implementation of the waiver provisions 
of the Proclamation created any time after December 4, when certain U.S. Consulates began issuing an 
unknown number of denials of visas. These include, but are not limited to: 

i) The number of letters issued on December 4 through present by the U.S. Consulate in Djibouti 
denying eligibility for a waiver; and 
ii) The number of letters issued on December 4 through present by the U.S. Consulate in Djibouti 
reviewing eligibility for a waiver. 
iii) The number of letters issued granting waiver 
iv) Communications between the Department of State, CBP, DHS or any other component 
agency of DHS with the consulates of Djibouti, (X andY consulates) regarding the language of 
the form letters, including the language indicating the availability of a waiver provision; and 
v) Any written guidance, including but not limited to memoranda, establishing how to assess 
whether individuals who had received a visa approval notice prior to the Presidential 
Proclamation and whose visas were only awaiting printing are to be considered separately for 
eligibility for the waiver program.  

 
Your request is being handled under the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act (5 U.S.C. § 552).  
It has been assigned the following control number: COW2018000160.  Please cite this number in all 
future correspondence about your request. 
 
In accordance with Department of Homeland Security Regulations (6 C.F.R. § 5.4(a)), USCIS uses a 
“cut-off” date to delineate the scope of a FOIA request by treating records created after that date as not 
responsive to that request. Therefore, in determining which records are responsive to your request, we 
will only include records in the possession of this agency as of February 6, 2018, the date we began the 
search for records. 
 
USCIS FOIA has agreed to grant your fee waiver request. 
 
Based on the information you provided, we have determined that expedited processing of your request is 
not warranted. The Departmental regulation at 6 C.F.R. § 5.5(e)(1) requires that you demonstrate that 
your request warrants expedited treatment because it involves: 
 
(i) Circumstances in which the lack of expedited processing could reasonably be expected to pose an 
imminent threat to the life or physical safety of an individual; 
(ii) An urgency to inform the public about an actual or alleged federal government activity, if made by a 
person who is primarily engaged in disseminating information; 
(iii) The loss of substantial due process rights; or 
(iv) A matter of widespread and exceptional media interest in which there exist possible questions about 
the government’s integrity which affect public confidence. 
 
Additionally, 6 C.F.R. § 5.5(e)(3) requires that a requester who seeks expedited processing must submit a 
statement, certified to be true and correct, explaining in detail the basis for making the request for 
expedited processing.  Furthermore, requests for expedited processing that are based on paragraph 
(e)(1)(iv) of this section must be submitted to the Senior Director of FOIA Operations, the Privacy Office, 
U.S. Department of Homeland Security, 245 Murray Lane SW STOP-0655, Washington, DC 20598-
0655.   If you can demonstrate any further showing as to the nature and degree of (i), (ii) or (iii) of the 
above categories, please submit this additional information to this office for reconsideration. 
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Consistent with 6 C.F.R. § 5.5(a) of the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) FOIA regulations, 
USCIS processes FOIA requests according to their order of receipt.  Although USCIS’ goal is to respond 
within 20 business days of receipt of your request, FOIA does permit a 10-day extension of this time 
period in certain circumstances.  Due to the increasing number of FOIA requests received by this office, 
we may encounter some delay in processing your request.  Additionally, due to the scope and nature of 
your request, USCIS will need to locate, compile, and review responsive records from multiple offices, 
both at headquarters and in the field.  USCIS may also need to consult with another agency or other 
component of the Department of Homeland Security that have a substantial interest in the responsive 
information.  Due to these unusual circumstances, USCIS will invoke a 10-day extension for your request 
pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(B). Please contact our office if you would like to limit the scope of your 
request or to agree on a different timetable for the processing of your request.  We will make every effort 
to comply with your request in a timely manner. 
 
In accordance with Department of Homeland Security Regulations (6 C.F.R. § 5.3(c)), your request is 
deemed to constitute an agreement to pay any fees that may be chargeable up to $25.00.  Fees may be 
charged for searching for records sought at the respective clerical, professional, and/or managerial rates of 
$4.00/$7.00/$10.25 per quarter hour, and for duplication of copies at the rate of $.10 per copy.  The first 
100 copies and two hours of search time are not charged, and the remaining combined charges for search 
and duplication must exceed $14.00 before we will charge you any fees.  Most requests do not require any 
fees; however, if fees in excess of $25.00 are required, we will notify you beforehand. 
 
This office will be providing your records on a Compact Disc (CD) for use on your personal computer.  
The CD is readable on all computers through the use of Adobe Acrobat software.  A version of Adobe 
Acrobat will be included on the CD.  Your records can be viewed on your computer screen and can be 
printed onto paper.  Only records 15 pages or more are eligible for CD printing.  To request your 
responsive records on paper, please include your control number and write to the above address Attention: 
FOIA/PA Officer, or fax them to (816) 350-5785. 
 
The National Records Center (NRC) has the responsibility to ensure that personally identifiable 
information (PII) pertaining to U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS) clients is protected.  
In our efforts to safeguard this information, we may request that additional information be provided to 
facilitate and correctly identify records responsive to your request.  Though submission of this 
information is voluntary, without this information, your request may be delayed while additional steps are 
taken to ensure the correct responsive records are located and processed. Further, if we are unable to 
positively identify the subject of the record we may be unable to provide records responsive to your FOIA 
request. 
 
You may check the status of your FOIA request online, at www.uscis.gov/FOIA.  Click the “Check Status 
of Request” button in the middle of the web page or “FOIA Request Status Check & Average Processing 
Times” on the left side under “Freedom of Information and Privacy Act (FOIA).” Then click “FOIA 
Check Status of Request” at the bottom of the page and follow the instructions given.  We will make 
every effort to comply with your request in a timely manner.  In the interim if you have questions about 
the status of your request, you may contact Karl Bloom by e-mail at Karl.D.Bloom@uscis.dhs.gov. 
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All FOIA/PA related requests, including address changes, must be submitted in writing and be signed by 
the requester.  Please include the Control Number listed above on all correspondence with this office. 
Requests may be mailed to the FOIA/PA Officer at the PO Box listed at the top of the letterhead, emailed 
to USCIS.FOIA@uscis.dhs.gov, or sent by fax to (816) 350-5785.  You may also submit FOIA/PA 
related questions to our email address at FOIAPAQuestions@uscis.dhs.gov. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Jill A. Eggleston 
Director, FOIA Operations 
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Sirine Shebaya 
P.O. Box 66408 
Washington, DC 20035
 
 

February 7, 2018
 

 
 
 
 
 
Dear Sirine Shebaya:
 
 
 
 
This automated notice acknowledges receipt of your Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request to U.S.
Customs and Border Protection (CBP) received on 01/31/2018.   Please use the following unique FOIA
tracking number CBP-2018-029396 to track the status of your request.  If you have not already done so,
you must create a FOIAonline account at https://foiaonline.regulations.gov.  This is the only method
available to check the status of your pending FOIA request.
 
 
 
 
Provisions of the Act allow us to recover part of the cost of complying with your request.  We shall charge
you for records in accordance with the DHS FOIA regulations outlined on the DHS website,
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/11/22/2016-28095/freedom-of-information-act-
regulations. By submitting your request, you have agreed to pay up to $25.00 in applicable processing
fees, if any fees associated with your request exceed this amount, CBP shall contact you; however, the
first 100 pages are free. 
 
 
 
 
Due to the increasing number of FOIA requests received by this office, we may encounter some delay in
processing your request.  Consistent with 6 C.F.R. Part 5 §5.5(a) of the DHS FOIA regulations, CBP
processes FOIA requests according to their order of receipt.  Although CBP’s goal is to respond within 20
business days of receipt of your request, FOIA does permit a 10-day extension of this time period in
certain circumstances pursuant to 6 C.F.R. Part 5 §5.5(c).
 
 
 
 
CBP’s FOIA Division is working hard to reduce the amount of time necessary to respond to FOIA
requests.  Currently, the average time to process a FOIA request related to "travel/border incidents" is a
minimum of 3-6 months. We truly appreciate your continued patience. 
 
 
 
 
For additional information please consult CBP FOIA website please click on FOIA Act Resources or visit
http://www.cbp.gov/site-policy-notices/foia.
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Sincerely,  
 
 
 
U.S. Customs and Border Protection
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